2016

**Zen Healing Arts, LLC., D/B/a Beaches Bodyworks, Jeff Stucki,
and Leisa Metcalf Plaintiffs/Appellants vs. Utah State Department
of Commerce, Utah Division of Occupational Licensing, and John
Does I-X Defendant/Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

QUESTIONS OF LAW:

A. Is the remedy chosen by the District Court of Dismissal with Prejudice in regard to Plaintiffs' Declaratory Judgment Action, within the power of the Court to grant? The Court may only "refuse to render or enter a declaratory judgment or decree where a judgment or decree, if rendered or entered would not terminate the controversy giving rise to the proceeding.

This issue was preserved for Appeal by Plaintiffs' Defendant's Motion (under Rule 59 - insert details here). The question here involves statutory construction and constitutional interpretation. It is a legal question that is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the decision of the District Court. See State v. J.M.S. (State ex rel. J.M.S.), 2011 UT 75, 280 P.3d 410 (Utah 2011); and Bushco v. Utah State Tax Commission, 2009 UT 73, 225 P.3d 153 (Utah 2009).

B. Is the Rule at issue within the power of the Division and/or Department to issue, and is it consistent with the statute it was designed to implement, interpret or administer?

This issue was preserved for Appeal by Plaintiffs' Trial Brief and Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for (Rule 59). The question here involves statutory

construction and constitutional interpretation. It is a legal question that is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the decision of the District Court. See State v. J.M.S. (State ex rel. J.M.S.), 2011 UT 75, 280 P.3d 410 (Utah 2011); and Bushco v. Utah State Tax Commission, 2009 UT 73, 225 P.3d 153 (Utah 2009).

C. Does the Rule itself, or the statute as modified by the Rule, deny Plaintiffs Due Process of Law, and is the Rule overbroad and/or unconstitutionally vague?

The question here involves statutory construction and constitutional interpretation. It is a legal question that is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the decision of the District Court. See State v. J.M.S. (State ex rel. J.M.S.), 2011 UT 75, 280 P.3d 410 (Utah 2011); and Bushco v. Utah State Tax Commission, 2009 UT 73, 225 P.3d 153 (Utah 2009).

The question here involves statutory construction and constitutional interpretation. It is a legal question that is reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the decision of the District Court. See State v. J.M.S. (State ex rel. J.M.S.), 2011 UT 75, 280 P.3d 410 (Utah 2011); and Bushco v. Utah State Tax Commission, 2009 UT 73, 225 P.3d 153 (Utah 2009).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND ORDINANCES AT

ISSUE:

The following items will be reproduced in an Addendum hereto:

H.B. 243, 2011 General Session showing changes in definitions under the Massage Therapy Practice Act.

H.B. 114, 2012 General Session showing changes in definitions under the Massage Therapy Practice Act.

Utah Code Ann. § 58-1-502

Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-102 (2012) (current)

Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-201

Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-501

Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-503

Rule R156-47b-102 of Utah Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing

STATEMENT OF CASE

NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from the final Judgment of the Third District Court, Salt Lake City Department, Salt Lake County, dismissing with prejudice Plaintiff's Declaratory Judgment Action. Plaintiffs sought a Declaratory Judgment that Rule R156-47b-102 of Utah Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing is in conflict with the Massage Therapy Practice Act, Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-102. Alternatively,

Plaintiffs sought a Declaratory Judgment that the state, as modified by the Rule, is overbroad and/or unconstitutionally vague.

The Complaint also included a Second Cause of Action for review of an informal decision of the Department of Commerce. Based on the Ruling requested above, Plaintiffs asked that citations issued to them for violations of the Massage Practice Act be dismissed. Those citations were issued by DOPL on or about September 1, 2012 at an establishment operated by Plaintiff Zen Healing Arts, L.L.C. where Plaintiffs admit that they engaged in “light touch plus movement” of others for a fee. Plaintiffs contended that they did not engage in the practice of massage therapy as defined by statute, and that the citations were arbitrary and capricious attempts to interfere with a lawful business endeavor of which Defendants disapprove.

The Court held a Trial de Novo of issues previously before a hearing officer of the Division of Professional Licensing. Plaintiffs brought a Motion for Partial summary Judgment as to their First Cause of Action, resulting in a Partial Summary Judgment in their favor. That Judgment also substantially affected the Second Cause of Action, which involves the Administrative action by Defendants against Plaintiffs for the unlawful practice of massage therapy.

The Court later, sua sponte, “clarified” its Partial Summary Judgment. The assigned Judge then retired. After a trial de novo on the outstanding citations, the Court canceled the Partial Summary Judgment in its entirety and Dismissed Plaintiffs’ action with prejudice. In doing so, the Court upheld the contested Rule in its entirety and declined to construe it or to restrict it as the previous Judge had done in the Partial Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Zen Healing Arts, d/b/a Beaches Bodyworks, is a Utah Limited Liability Co. Its principal place of business is in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Said Plaintiff operates a relaxation studio and is licensed by Salt Lake County. R.24. Treatments administered by Plaintiff include various spiritual healing arts that date back many centuries. This involves touching the skin to create energy, and to direct energy to various parts of the body. Id.

Treatment does not involve therapeutic massage, and every customer is required to sign a consent form acknowledging that they understand that they are not receiving a massage. R 25. Treatments may include the art of Reiki, which may include touching as a relaxation and healing technique. Massage techniques of “systematic manipulation” are not included. Id.

The Utah Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing is a Division of the Department of Commerce, and is charged, under Utah Code Ann. § 58-1-106(1)(a) with adopting rules to administer the provisions of the Utah code within its jurisdiction. Utah Code § 58-47b-102 defines the practice of massage. That definition section was modified by the legislature in 2011 to broaden the definition of what was included in the term “massage therapy”. The word “therapeutic” was removed from the definition. The Legislature, in 2012, largely reversed the law changes of 2011, restoring the word “therapeutic” to the massage therapy definition, and removing the term “recreational” under purposes. Those changes, and their effect on Division enforcement, are at issue in this action. Below is the current version of Section 58-47b-102, definitions: Note that bracketed terms have been removed, and underlined terms added, as the statute was changed in 2011 and 2011. Copies of the Bills showing the changes are in the Appendix, along with the full current version.

(3) “Homeostasis” means maintaining, stabilizing, or returning to equilibrium the muscular system.

(6) “Practice of massage therapy” means:

(a) the examination, assessment, and evaluation of the soft tissue structures of the body for the purpose of devising a treatment plan to

promote homeostasis;

(b) the systematic manual or mechanical manipulation of the soft tissue of the body for the [therapeutic] purpose of:

(i) promoting the therapeutic health and well-being of a client;

(ii) enhancing the circulation of the blood and lymph;

(iii) relaxing and lengthening muscles;

(iv) relieving pain;

(v) restoring metabolic balance; and

(vi) achieving homeostasis; [and]

(vii) [recreational] or other purposes;

(c) the use of the hands or a mechanical or electrical apparatus in connection with this Subsection (6);

(d) the use of rehabilitative procedures involving soft tissue of the body;

(e) range of motion of movements without spinal adjustment as set forth in Section 58-72-102;

(f) oil rubs, heat lamp, salt glows, hot and cold packs, or tub, shower, steam, and cabinet baths;

(g) manual traction and stretching exercise;

(h) correction of muscular distortion by treatment of the soft tissues of the body;

(i) counseling, education, and other advisory services to reduce the incidence and severity of physical disability, movement dysfunction, and pain;

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-501, it is unlawful to practice, engage in or attempt to practice “massage therapy without holding a current license as a massage therapist or a massage apprentice under this chapter.” Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-503, “any individual who commits an act of unlawful conduct under Section 58-47b-501 is guilty of a class A misdemeanor.” A violation of the Massage Therapy Practice Act may also bring an administrative sanction, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 58-1-501 and 58-1-502, which may include fines of up to \$1,000 and a “cease and desist order”.

On or about December 15, 2011, Defendants published a Notice on their website of a proposed additional definition, to be included as a part of Rule R156-47b, known as the “Massage Therapy Practice Act Rule”. That Rule, in Part R156-47b-102 contains definitions which are to assist in administering the provision of the Massage Therapy Act. The addition to the Rule states:

(8) “Manipulation”, as used in Subsection 58-47b-102(6)(b), means contact with movement, involving touching the clothed or unclothed body. R. 31, 159.

The Rule greatly expands what may be considered “massage”.

Plaintiff Stucki followed the instructions on the website and submitted written comments objecting to the adoption of the rule. He also appeared at the hearing at which the rule was discussed and adopted, and made an oral presentation in opposition to the rule. He and a number of others filed written comments on or before the due date, opposing the change. The Division did not respond to the written comments. The Rule went into effect on January 26, 2012, without additional discussion. R. 57-58.

The 2012 legislative bill, HB 114, originally contained the same language as the Rule, adopted at around the same time. At a committee hearing on February 6, 2012, (only 10 days after the Rule went into effect) the expanded definition of massage therapy at issue here was dropped from the bill. The sponsor of the bill indicated that the definition had caused concerns from chiropractic physicians. R. 291.

Sally Stewart, a “Bureau Manager” over Massage Therapy for Defendant D.O.P.L. previously filed an affidavit with this Court, dated April 23, 2012, as to the circumstances of the adoption of the Rule, and stated as follows:

Clarification also provided a written reference concerning potential abuses of the profession and public so as not to allow unqualified, unlicensed individuals to take advantage either physically or financially. The Division and the Board

felt that the promulgation of the rule was necessary for the protection of the public and the profession. R. 170.

The decision of the Board was at least partially in reaction to unfavorable court rulings in which attempts to use the Massage Therapy Practice Act as a weapon against escort agencies, had failed. See Orem City v. Wood, Case No. 101200072, R. 294, in which the Court ruled that an escort who offered a “massage” as part of an escort appointment, along with “a sexy dance [or] the modeling of provocative lingerie”. After listing the goals of a professional massage, from the Act, the Court stated:

Arguably, the evidence may eventually show that Defendant’s massage in this case *resulted* in some or all of these benefits. However, it is undisputed that Defendant never held herself out as a “massage therapist” or as an expert in massage. Moreover, it is not alleged that Defendant ever represented to her client that her massage techniques would result in any of these benefits or that the massage was being given of any of these therapeutic purposes. Therefore, there is no – and apparently will never be any – evidence that Defendant engaged in the massage “for the purpose of” achieving these results. R. 296. (Emphasis in original).

Agents of Defendant have testified in various administrative and court proceedings that the new definition in the Rule was “the position of the Division”, even before the Rule was adopted, and without notice of that “position” to those who might be affected by it.

Ms Stewart testified in an administrative proceeding involving Plaintiffs Roman and Metcalf:

Manipulation is just that, it is contact and movement. If you are merely laying your hands upon your body, that is not manipulation of tissue. If you take that hand and move it around, you are manipulating the soft tissues, whether you are doing so in a light fashion, a medium fashion or in a deep tissue type of practice." (Tr. 57) (Emphasis added). R. 314.

Ms. Stewart was later deposed in reference to this matter. According to Ms. Stewart, the rule was for purposes of clarification only. It was asked for by licensed professionals. She was involved in preparing the rule; but she does not determine who is required to be licensed. R.324. She was involved in the 2011 legislative changes because:

There were some areas where a person may have claimed not to have been doing therapeutic massage and that had not been previously included in the language within the scope of practice. That word was removed because the individuals chose to regulate, not just therapeutic massage, but also recreational or relaxation massage. They are the same techniques but serve different purposes and that was discussed with various individuals. R.322.

Rubbing a person with lotion would generally be considered to be a cosmetic process. However, in the practice of massage therapy, you are dealing with potential harm to an individual through sanitation, safety in terms of too much pressure, too little pressure, effleurage as a very light touch technique can close of lymphatic system, can cause health effects. You have contagion, you may have unsanitary conditions possible. You have an number of potential threats to the public safety and welfare. Id. (Emphasis added).

At a Preliminary Hearing in State v. Cash, Third District Court, West Jordan Department, Case No. 111402066, held on January 31, 2012, Allison Robinson, an investigator for D.O.P.L, also testified:

We have a definition that speaks to massage. There are a lot of different components to it. Mr. McCullough had touched on some of those components although it is the Divisions' position that not all of these components must be engaged in in order to be practicing massage therapy. However, the manipulation of soft tissue is mentioned and we view manipulation of soft tissue as any contact with movement. R.340.

Ms. Robinson, now Ms. Pettley, was also deposed on December 12, 2013. She has no college education; but she took a 5 week POST class for "special function police officer". R.341. She reads the statutes and rules on her own, to decide what the law is, and how it should be enforced. R.343. She knows generally the terms used in massage, through her own reading. She is "aware that there is a lymphatic system in the body" and that massage can enhance the circulation of it. R.344. The statute refers to "achieving homeostasis". She thinks she would know if she saw this being achieved; but it is "subjective", so she has "discretion" as to whether to cite. Id.

Ms. Pettley was not an investigator when the statutory changes were made in 2011. She was an investigator in 2012, when those changes were largely reversed. She did not believe that those changes were significant in her investigations, and did

not make any changes because of them. The addition of the term “recreational purposes”, and then its removal did not affect her work, as the law retained the term “for other purposes”. Id. Her citations are “typically for contact with movement.” She does not typically cite people for any of the other myriad “modalities” of massage, such as counseling, educating or advising. Id.

According to Ms. Pettley, if a licensed escort rubs a client on the arm, to show affection,

that would depend on whether he hired her to rub him.” I would say if the client hired the escort to provide rubbing for him, that would be a violation of the Massage Therapy Practice Act.

. . .what I’m saying is if he hired her to rub him in whatever capacity and he paid her, that would be a violation of the Massage Therapy Practice Act. R.345.

The term “manipulation”, as in the contested rule, is her guideline. It does not matter that it is not applied in a therapeutic manner, or that it is not purported to have a health benefit. She cites people who touch other people for a fee, if there is movement with the touch. Id.

She states that “my plate is full with people that are touching each other.” “The violation of the law is offensive to me, yes.” She relies on her own reading of the statute and rule. R. 331. If an unmarried man receives a massage from his

girlfriend, and he takes her to dinner to show his appreciation, Ms. Pettley believes that his would be a violation. R. 332. The following question and answer were part of the deposition:

COUNSEL: But you really do have your plate full of people touching each other and it's - I mean it's so far you can't get around it, isn't it?

WITNESS: It's a very - there is a very large population of people that are out there that are violating the Massage Therapy Practice Act, yes. R.346.

She was an investigator before the Rule at issue was passed in January, 2012; and she did not change her enforcement because of the Rule. Prior to that, "it was always the standard that the definition of massage therapy included contact with movement. It was just clarified in writing." Id.

Defendants named as an expert witness Ms. Sharon Muir, the Chair of the Board of Massage Therapy, as created by Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-201. The duties of that Board include assisting the Division Director in governing the regulated profession, including suggesting Rules and setting requirements for licensure. See Utah Code Ann. § 58-1-202, 203. A member of the Board is to "assist the division in reviewing complaints concerning the unlawful or unprofessional conduct of a licensee." Utah Code Ann. § 58-47b-201(3)(a). (Emphasis added).

Ms. Muir prepared an Expert Report. She stated that:

As Chair of the Board of Massage Therapy, I am aware of concerns raised by numerous parties that unlicensed massages including massages of a sexual nature were being performed under the guise of Reiki and that there was a need for clarification of DOPL's Rule governing the practice of massage therapy to keep illegal sex businesses out of the massage profession.

It is my opinion that the Board and DOPL acted within the scope of their authority to regulate the massage therapy profession by promulgating the amendment to Rule 156-47b-102. The amendment to the rule was necessary to establish clarification in the guide lines as to what constitutes the practice of massage therapy.

It is my opinion that this type of conduct and behavior is detrimental and seriously undermines the integrity of the massage therapy profession and the Reiki petitioners. R.374.

In answers to Interrogatories, Defendants state the following, regarding the reasons for the enactment of the Rule:

Concerns were expressed by the Utah League of Cities and Towns, the State Board of Health, and Murray City about Reiki businesses and how they were being used as fronts for prostitution at a Massage Therapy Board Meeting held on September 20, 2011 which prompted a discussion for the rule amendment. Additionally, members of the public in attendance at the September 20, 2011 meeting expressed concerns about the misrepresentation of the practice of Reiki by individuals as fronts for sexually oriented businesses and prostitution. (Ans. #6).

In answers to Interrogatories, Defendants state the following, regarding the abuses of the profession" referred to in Ms. Stewart's previously filed affidavit:

The actual or potential abuses referred to [in] Ms. Stewart's Affidavit of April 23, 2012 include physical harm, financial harm, being used as a vehicle for

prostitution or sexual abuse and as a vehicle for human trafficking. (Ans. #12).

The potential harm to the client of the recipient of a massage by someone who isn't licensed as a massage therapist are that they are deprived of the right to a legitimate massage and may be exposed to harm by an unlicensed person who does not do the massage in the right way. The client may also be exposed to illegal prostitution under the guise of massage therapy. In addition, unlicensed massage therapists may be subject to human trafficking. (Ans. #15).

In Answers to Interrogatories regarding the function of "touch plus movement",

Defendants stated:

The massage practitioner is a professional who is engaged in the business of giving appropriate, nurturing, and ethical touch. The massage or body work profession is unique in that human touch is the primary vehicle whereby services are preformed. Whether it is relaxation, wellness massage, sports massage, Therapeutic Touch, or the specifically applied soft tissue manipulation of clinical massage, it is the beneficial human response to skillfully applied touch that is the basis for the success of the massage profession. Touch is an essential element for healthy growth and development. From a very early age, positive touch affects human physical and emotional health through our lives.

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