2016

**Zen Healing Arts, LLC., D/B/a Beaches Bodyworks, Jeff Stucki,  
and Leisa Metcalf Plaintiffs/Appellants vs. Utah Department of  
Commerce, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing  
Defendant/Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs fail to show that the district court erred in upholding the Rule and dismissing their claims. First, Plaintiffs seemingly argue that the Rule is not supported by substantial evidence as a matter of law. Their argument hinges on the notion that DOPL had the burden to prove substantial evidence existed but failed to do so because DOPL did not transcribe several audio recordings that were part of the administrative record, all of which prevented the district court from reviewing the entire record. This argument is wrong in every respect.

Plaintiffs, not DOPL, bear the burden of proof on a substantial evidence challenge. They must marshal all of the facts in support of the Rule and show the Rule still lacks substantial evidence. The applicable law required DOPL only to produce the Rule's administrative record, which includes audio recordings. DOPL did this. Nothing demands that DOPL then transcribe

audio recordings for Plaintiffs' use. Likewise, the district court need only review the relevant findings to determine if they are reasonable and rational. It has no duty to, and cannot, independently assess and reweigh the evidence from the entire record. Plaintiffs cannot foist its burdens onto DOPL and the district court in hopes of winning a substantial evidence challenge by default.

Here, the district court highlighted the substantial evidence supporting the Rule. Plaintiffs do not marshal the evidence, nor show that the supporting evidence is not substantial. Their substantial evidence challenge should be rejected on the law and the facts.

Second, Plaintiffs argue the district court's final judgment dismissing their claims is inconsistent with prior partial summary judgment orders and/or the court's determination about the conduct to which the Act applies. This argument also lacks merit. As an initial matter, no district court is bound by its prior orders. Plaintiffs' inconsistency arguments, even if factually accurate, are legally irrelevant.

Moreover, the final judgment dismissing Plaintiffs' claims is wholly consistent with the court's prior rulings or findings. In relevant part, Plaintiffs requested a declaratory judgment that the Rule was invalid. The court interpreted the prior orders on partial summary judgment to mean that the Rule could not allow DOPL to expand the scope of the Act. The court subsequently found that the Rule did not do so, and that the Act—regardless



of the Rule—prohibited the Plaintiffs’ cited conduct. The court also outlined the type of conduct to which the licensing requirements for the practice of massage therapy applied—receiving payment for systematic manipulation of soft tissue for a statutorily enumerated purpose. That’s the conduct for which Plaintiffs’ were cited. Dismissing Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory relief is consistent with these rulings. The final judgment does not negate the court’s determinations. Rather those determinations lead directly to the final judgment. Plaintiffs are not entitled to some other declaratory judgment relief.

Finally, Plaintiffs allege various reasons the Rule is invalid: it’s arbitrary and capricious, beyond the Act’s scope, unconstitutionally vague or overbroad. But for the most part, Plaintiffs do not adequately brief these arguments. The Court could reject them for this reason alone. Even addressing the merits, however, Plaintiffs fail to show the Rule is invalid.

The Rule fits well within the scope of the Act. The Rule defines manipulation as “contact with movement, involving touching the clothed or unclothed body.” That definition is consistent with the plain meaning of the term and with massage therapy practices, which recognize light touch massage as an accepted modality called effleurage. It is also consistent with the Act’s provisions outlining the practice of message therapy for various

purposes. Nothing in the Act suggests the Rule's definition of manipulation goes too far.

The Rule is not arbitrary or capricious, to the extent that's even a valid argument in this context. The district court found that the Rule was intended to "broadly define massage therapy to reflect the generally accepted notions of massage therapy," including effleurage, and to exclude Reiki, which involves touching but no movement. The Rule was further intended to protect the integrity of the massage industry and to distinguish that industry from sexually oriented businesses. Plaintiffs have not contradicted these findings. These purposes are reasonable and rationally related to the express language and purposes of the Act, and the legislature's purposes in regulating the massage therapy industry.

The Rule is not overbroad under the First Amendment. As an initial matter, it seems doubtful that massages invoke First Amendment protections. The overbreadth doctrine does not apply to commercial speech. Regardless, the Rule satisfies any potentially applicable test. It satisfies the *O'Brien* overbreadth test, when "speech and nonspeech elements are combined in the same course of conduct," because the Rule (1) is within the constitutional power of the State; (2) it furthers an important or substantial governmental interest; (3) the governmental interest is unrelated to the suppression of free expression; and (4) the incidental restriction on alleged

First Amendment freedoms is no greater than is essential to the furtherance of that interest. The Rule also satisfies the more general overbreadth test because it (1) does not reach a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct, and (2) the statute is not readily subject to a narrowing construction.

The Rule is not unconstitutionally vague. Plaintiffs lack standing to make this argument because their conduct was clearly proscribed by the Act (indeed, Plaintiffs no longer challenge their citations). Regardless, the Rule is not vague because it gives appropriate notice to those who must be licensed and it does not encourage arbitrary enforcement.

For all of these reasons, the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT

The district court properly upheld the Plaintiffs' administrative citations and the validity of the Rule. On appeal, the Plaintiffs no longer appear to challenge their citations. Instead, their arguments largely focus on challenging the Rule.<sup>2</sup> None of Plaintiffs' arguments undermines the district court's decisions.

---

<sup>2</sup>The district court held that Plaintiffs had standing to challenge the Rule even though it was promulgated after, and played no role in, their administrative citations. R. 1289-90, ¶¶ 64-66. Only persons "aggrieved" by a rule may seek judicial review thereof. Utah Code § 63G-3-602(1)(a). To be



**I. Plaintiffs Failed To Prove The Rule Is Not Supported By Substantial Evidence Based on DOPL's Production of Audio Recordings as Part of the Administrative Record.**

Plaintiffs first argue that the Rule is not supported by substantial evidence. But it is more of a legal argument than evidentiary. They claim DOPL failed its burden to prove the Rule was supported by substantial evidence because DOPL never produced a written transcript of the audio recordings from the administrative record under Utah Code § 63G-3-602(3) thereby preventing the district court from fulfilling its obligation to review the entire record under subsection 602(4). *See* Aplt. Br. at 28-29. The conclusion and each premise of this argument are wrong.

As an initial matter, subsection 602(4) doesn't support Plaintiffs' argument. The section says merely that the district court "may" declare a rule void if the court finds "the rule is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole administrative record." Utah Code § 63G-3-602(4)(a)(ii). This provision does not allow (much less compel) the district court to independently review and reweigh the entire record. "[I]n

---

"aggrieved" means that Plaintiffs must show they have "suffered some distinct and palpable injury that gives [them] a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute." *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Property Tax Div. of Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 979 P.2d 346, 351 (Utah 1999). DOPL doubts whether the Rule has caused or will cause the Plaintiffs any distinct or palpable injury considering they were cited before the Rule was enacted and Zen Healing Arts is not currently operating. In other words, it remains unclear what services Plaintiffs believe they could legally provide before the Rule was enacted that the Rule now prohibits.

determining whether a rule is supported by substantial evidence, courts must decide if the relevant findings were reasonable and rational, although such an assessment does not constitute a de novo review or a reweighing of the evidence.” *Associated Gen. Contractors v. Bd. of Oil, Gas and Mining*, 2001 UT 112, ¶ 21, 38 P.3d 291 (internal quotation marks omitted). And, per the section’s plain language, only a finding of no substantial evidence must be made in light of the whole record. The district court was able to find substantial evidence with the record presented to it.

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ arguments, the party challenging a rule on substantial evidence grounds “must marshal all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, the . . . findings are not supported by substantial evidence.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). In short, Plaintiffs bear the burden of proving the Rule lacked substantial evidence in light of the entire record. Neither DOPL nor the district court had any duty to do Plaintiffs’ job.

Similarly, DOPL had no duty to create written transcripts of relevant audio recordings. To be sure, DOPL must “file the administrative record of the rule, if any, with its” pleading responding to Plaintiffs’ rule challenge. Utah Code § 63G-3-602(3)(b)(iii). But that doesn’t require DOPL to create and file transcripts of any Rule-related audio recordings. Indeed, the Rulemaking Act defines the “administrative record” as including “the public

comment received and *recorded* by the agency.” *Id.* § 63G-3-102(1)(b) (emphasis added). The statute expressly contemplates that recordings may be part of the administrative record provided by the agency. Plaintiffs acknowledge that DOPL produced the relevant audio recordings. *Aplt. Br.* at 25. The statutes require nothing more. R. 732-34.

In analogous circumstances, the rules of appellate procedure put the burden on the appellant to include the transcript in the record when challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2). The rules emphasize that “[n]either the court nor the appellee is obligated to correct appellant’s deficiencies in providing the relevant portions of the transcript.” *Id.* So too here. If Plaintiffs wanted to use the audio recordings as part of their substantial evidence argument, it was Plaintiffs’ duty to transcribe the recordings and point the district court to any parts of the transcript Plaintiffs believed supported their argument.

The Court should reject Plaintiffs’ attempt to reverse the burdens of proof and prevail by default on substantial evidence grounds. The argument lacks any legal basis.

And it’s also clear that Plaintiffs could not prevail on a more traditional fact-based substantial evidence challenge. Here, both the district court’s opinion and the Plaintiffs’ brief highlight substantial evidence supporting the Rule. R. 1273, ¶¶ 3-4; *id.* 1291, ¶ 69; *Aplt. Br.* at 26-27. Plaintiffs—not



DOPL or the district court—had the burden to marshal all of the evidence supporting the Rule and prove it still lacks substantial evidence. *Associated Gen. Contractors*, 2001 UT 112, ¶¶ 21, 32. The Plaintiffs failed to do so below or on appeal.<sup>3</sup> They do not marshal all of the supporting facts, much less show how DOPL's or the district court's findings lack substantial evidence. *See id.* ¶¶ 33-34. Accordingly, the Plaintiffs' substantial evidence argument must be rejected. *Id.* ¶ 32 ("If a party fail[s] to satisfy [its] burden of marshaling the evidence and showing that the [agency]'s finding[s][are] not supported by substantial evidence, we [will] affirm the [agency]'s findings." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

## **II. The District Court's Judgment Is Not Inconsistent, and Plaintiffs Are Not Entitled to Any Relief.**

Plaintiffs appear to argue that the district court's final judgment dismissing Plaintiffs' claims contradicts certain prior rulings from the court. *Aplt. Br.* at 41-42. Specifically, Plaintiffs assert the final judgment rejects prior partial summary judgment rulings about the Rule's scope and findings about what constitutes the practice of massage therapy. *Id.* at 39-42. Plaintiffs insist they are entitled to a declaratory judgment endorsing those rulings. *Id.* at 42. These arguments lack merit.

---

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiffs mention a motion to strike some expert testimony. *Aplt. Br.* at 27-28. But they haven't raised the presumed denial of that motion as an issue on appeal, nor have they substantively argued the point in their brief. *Id.* The argument is therefore waived.

First, the premise of Plaintiffs' argument—that the district court is bound by its prior interlocutory orders—is wrong. The rules of civil procedure expressly state that interlocutory orders “may be changed at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.” Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b). “As long as the case has not been appealed and remanded, reconsideration of an issue before a final judgment is within the sound discretion of the district court.” *IHC Health Servs., Inc. v. D & K Mgmt., Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 27, 196 P.3d 588. Thus, final judgments do not have to be consistent with prior non-final rulings. And arguing inconsistency on that ground, as Plaintiffs do, is legally irrelevant and does not warrant reversal.

Second, even if it mattered, the final judgment is consistent with the court's prior rulings. As Plaintiffs (and the district court) explained, the court entered an order granting partial summary judgment that it later clarified. Aplt. Br. at 32-34; R. 741-45, 971-72, 1292, 1492-93. In relevant part, the orders as amended determined that the Rule's definition of manipulation did not run afoul of the Massage Therapy Practice Act and that DOPL “may, within the scope of the Act, define the range of activities that a therapist is allowed to do or is prohibited from doing.” R. 744, 972, 1493. The orders also stated, “the Division may not define the scope of activities, including manipulation, of individuals that are not licensed massage therapists or

holding themselves out, by word or act, as massage therapists.” R. 972, 1493. The court later explained that these orders simply meant that “a rule may not empower DOPL to regulate people or conduct that the legislature has not permitted,” R. 1292, ¶ 72, and that the Rule “could not be interpreted in a manner which would expand the scope of the” Act. R. 1493.

Both the district court’s Findings and Conclusions and its Post-Trial Order held that the Rule did not expand the Act; the Rule clarified the Act by emphasizing that it may properly be applied to persons “offering light touch massage services for a fee.” R. 1293; *see also id.* 1292, ¶ 73. These conclusions are entirely consistent with the partial summary judgment orders and lead inexorably to the court’s final judgment dismissing Plaintiffs’ declaratory judgment challenging the Rule.

Likewise, the court’s ruling outlining the elements of massage therapy requiring a license does not contradict the final judgment or require affirmative relief. Consistent with the Act, the court explained that the practice of message therapy requires (1) payment for (2) systematic (3) manipulation of soft tissue (4) for one of the purposes identified in the Act. R. 1294, ¶ 82. Plaintiffs appear to argue that the final judgment dismissing their claims negates or otherwise reduces to dicta the district court’s findings about the elements of message therapy. Aplt. Br. at 40-42. But that is not true.

The judgment dismissing Plaintiffs' claims does not undermine the court's findings and conclusions supporting the judgment. Those determinations apply to the parties unless altered on appeal or by amending the statute. The judgment of dismissal merely reflects the fact that Plaintiffs failed to show any available grounds for declaratory relief under the applicable statute.

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